Supreme Court of New Jersey

Docket No. 088645

LAURENCE J. RAPPAPORT, : CIVIL ACTION

Individually and as a Member of
Rapad Real Estate Management,
LLC, KABR Management, LLC,
CERTIFICATION

KABR Management II, LLC, KABR : FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT Management III, LLC and KABR : OF THE SUPERIOR COURT

Management IV, LLC, : OF NEW JERSEY,

Plaintiff-Respondent, : APPELLATE DIVISION

- vs. - : DOCKET NOS. A-000491-21 and

KENNETH PASTERNAK, : A-000492-21
Individually and as a Member of

Rapad Real Estate Management,
LLC, KABR Management, LLC,
KABR Management II, LLC,
HON. RICHARD J. GEIGER, J.A.D.

(For Continuation of Caption HON. RONALD SUSSWEIN, J.A.D. HON MARITZA B RYRNE LAD

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In overturning the results of a private-sector arbitration award in this case, the Appellate Division discarded this Court's decades-long precedent instructing courts to give heightened deference to an arbitration determination. The Appellate Division's opinion throws into confusion the proper scope of appellate review of private-sector arbitration awards and must be corrected.

Here, the arbitrator, former Chief Justice James R. Zazzali (ret.) ("Arbitrator"), held thirteen days of hearings and additional days of oral argument and reviewed "a record of almost 10,000 pages of pleadings, transcripts, briefs, exhibits, and correspondence." The Arbitrator concluded that Plaintiff had been wrongfully terminated and awarded him \$4.9 million for both his membership and management interests in KABR ("Arbitration Award"). The Arbitrator specifically and repeatedly found -- and the record reflects -- that Plaintiff's membership and management interests were within the scope of the arbitration and presented during the arbitration proceedings.

In direct contravention of the holdings in <u>Tretina Printing Inc. v.</u> <u>Fitzpatrick & Associates, Inc.</u>, 135 N.J. 349 (1994), and <u>Perini Corp. v. Greate</u> <u>Bay Hotel & Casino, Inc.</u>, 129 N.J. 479 (1992), the Appellate Division reviewed the record de novo and made its own factual findings, affording no deference to the Arbitration Award. The panel disagreed with the Arbitrator's conclusion

that the value of Plaintiff's membership interest in KABR was litigated in the arbitration and remanded for new proceedings on that issue without vacating the entirety of the Arbitration Award.

The Appellate Division clearly erred. Plaintiff's membership interest and the value of that interest were presented to the Arbitrator. The panel's error stemmed from its misunderstanding of the record and, in particular, its mistaken belief that the Arbitrator questioned Plaintiff sua sponte about carried interest when, in fact, Plaintiff's attorney did the questioning. The record shows that Plaintiff introduced his claim to carried interest and its value.

The value of Plaintiff's membership interest -- including what was referred to in the arbitration as his share of carried interest -- was raised repeatedly by the parties. And the Arbitrator repeatedly stated that he ruled on that issue. The Appellate Division did not heed this Court's warning about the heightened deference owed to a private-sector arbitration award. In adopting Chief Justice Wilentz's concurrence in Perini, the Tretina Court announced that a heightened standard of deference would apply in private-sector arbitration awards and that such awards should be "final, not subject to judicial review absent fraud, corruption, or similar wrongdoing on the part of the arbitrators."

Tretina, 135 N.J. at 357 (quoting Perini, 129 N.J. at 519 (Wilentz, C.J., concurring)). The panel abandoned that approach.

Additionally, if the Appellate Division believed that the Arbitrator wrongly based Plaintiff's \$4.9 million award on the value of his combined management and membership interests, then the panel should have vacated the entirety of the award. Under the New Jersey Arbitration Act ("NJAA"), a court may modify an arbitration award on a claim only if the "claim [was] not submitted to the arbitrator and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the claims submitted." N.J.S.A. 2A:23B-24. Here, the Arbitrator expressly held that the \$4.9 million damages award was intended to compensate Plaintiff for all of his losses, including his interests as both a manager and member of KABR. Accordingly, if the membership interest was not litigated, the Appellate Division erred by permitting the entire \$4.9 million award to stand solely on Plaintiff's management interest.

Certification is warranted because (1) the Appellate Division decision is in direct conflict with this Court's precedent and the NJAA, (2) the issues raised are of general public importance, and (3) the panel's failure to adhere to a standard of heightened deference in reviewing a private-sector arbitration award is in the interest of justice. See R. 2:12-4.

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER PRESENTED

I. The Parties Agree to Arbitrate All Claims Related to Rappaport's Dissolution or Dissociation from KABR.

On March 25, 2019, Plaintiff-Respondent Laurence Rappaport ("Rappaport" or "Claimant"), filed a 23-count complaint against Defendants-Petitioners alleging that he was wrongly terminated as an officer and member of KABR¹ ("2019 Action"). (See Pa111-83.) Defendants moved to compel arbitration pursuant to operating agreements with enforceable arbitration clauses. The parties entered into a Stipulation and Order of Dismissal and agreed to arbitrate all disputes before the Hon. James Zazzali (ret.). (Pa184-90.)

The parties agreed to arbitrate any disputed issues regarding Rappaport's interests as a member and manager of KABR. The Arbitration Agreement stated:

Whereas, the Parties wish to fully and finally resolve their dispute related to the Claim and Counterclaim, and related matters, including but not limited to, any claims that could be asserted by any Party as part of the Claim or the Counterclaim or with respect to the dissolution or disassociation of Rappaport from, or Rappaport's employment with . . . (collectively, the "KABR Management Companies") by submitting their claims and defenses to arbitration.

[(Pa197 (emphasis added).)]

The Arbitration Agreement provided that it would be governed by the

¹ KABR is a real estate management business and includes KABR Management, L.L.C. (KABR I), KABR Management II, LLC (KABR II), KABR Management III, LLC (KABR III), KABR Management IV, LLC (KABR IV), and Rapad Real Estate Management, L.L.C. (Rapad).

Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, the NJAA, and New Jersey law, with any conflict to be decided by the arbitrator. (Pa198.) It also provided that the arbitrator would provide a reasoned award and his ruling would be final and binding except as provided by the NJAA. (Ibid.)

II. The Arbitrator's Initial Award: "I deny the requested \$25M in carried interest."

On August 29, 2019, Rappaport submitted twenty-five Arbitration Claims against Defendants seeking compensatory damages for his termination as both a manager and a member of KABR. (Pa306-84). He sought reinstatement or, alternatively, compensation for his management and membership interests. (Pa337-84.) Defendants sought a declaration that Rappaport "has properly been or may be terminated from all of the KABR Entities and is not entitled to any further compensation" from KABR. (Pa387-93.)

In early 2020, during a 13-day evidentiary hearing, the Arbitrator listened to the testimony of multiple witnesses and reviewed hundreds of exhibits. (Pa1881.) The Arbitrator heard substantial testimony concerning Rappaport's claim for damages, including lost profits and carried interest and the direct correlation between those types of compensation.² Defendants disputed

² Carried interest is a performance fee rewarding KABR for profitable management of the KABR Funds' investments. After management fees are paid

Rappaport's claim for carried interest. (Pa1319-23.)

In a January 9, 2020 mid-arbitration motion, Rappaport sought declaratory relief that he was fully vested in the KABR entities. (Pa1092.) He urged the Arbitrator to "enter a judgment requiring that various compensation due him as a member of the KABR Entities continue to be paid pursuant to the terms of the operating agreements for KABR Entities." (Ibid.) The Appellate Division acknowledged that Rappaport's motion was a claim of entitlement to "carried interest." (34a.)

On January 14, 2020, Rappaport testified that he was asserting a claim for both lost profits and \$25 million in carried interest. (Pa1440; Da4.) On direct examination, Rappaport engaged in the following colloquy with his attorney.

[RAPPAPORT'S COUNSEL]: With respect to this . . . arbitration, are you asserting any claims with respect to your carried interest?

[RAPPAPORT]: I'm asserting the fact that I am entitled to that and I am fully vested in the carried interest.

[RAPPAPORT'S COUNSEL]: And what do you estimate your carried interest to be?

[RAPPAPORT]: Last time that it was valued, which was I think 2018, the total carried interest was somewhere in the \$25 million neighborhood. I'm not a hundred percent sure.

and KABR Fund investors are paid back their capital plus a preferred return, the Funds and KABR, and, therefore, the managers, split any excess returns.

[(Pa1440.)]

Rappaport's counsel also addressed Rappaport's entitlement to carried interest in his closing.

Now, your Honor, section 6.3 of the operating agreements all clearly state that any member that leaves the company for whatever reason is entitled to . . . the carried interest in perpetuity, as he would receive as a member.

. . .

Mr. Rappaport is fully vested in the management companies, including KABR Management I through IV and Rapad. We ask that the monies outlined in the independent expert report of EisnerAmper be awarded, there be a full award of all future carried interests, all monies distributed of the operating income until dissolution in perpetuity . . .

[(Pa1101; Pa1104-05.)]

In his Post-Hearing Brief, Rappaport sought a declaratory judgment, arguing that he should be reinstated as a member and manager of KABR and that he was entitled to continued distributions. (Pa1203-04.) Alternatively, he sought substantial damages for lost profits (which included treble damages) plus \$25 million for his membership right to carried interest. (Pa1203.)

In their Post-Hearing Brief, Defendants argued that Rappaport was, at most, entitled to his capital accounts but not lost profits. (Pa1243-1330.) Defendants also argued that under the Operating Agreements, a dissociated member or a member forced to withdraw was not entitled to carried interest

and, in any event, Rappaport failed to prove the value of any carried interest. (Pa1319-21.)

In issuing his Interim Final Arbitration Award ("Initial Award"), the Arbitrator acknowledged the nature and scope of the dispute under the Arbitration Agreement and stated that he was applying New Jersey law. (Pa207-42.) The Arbitrator found Rappaport was wrongfully terminated. Nevertheless, in discussing the factors set forth in the New Jersey Revised Uniform Limited Liability Company Act ("RULLCA"), N.J.S.A. 42:2C-1 to -94, the Arbitrator denied Rappaport's request for a declaration (1) nullifying his termination, (2) reinstating him as CEO, and (3) entitling him to compensation in perpetuity under the various operating agreements.

The Arbitrator awarded Rappaport damages in the amount of \$4,900,000 (including a return of his invested capital of \$13,455), minus \$1,048,853 credited to Defendants for a management-fee counterclaim. Rappaport received a net award of \$3,851,147. (Pa239-42.) In a section titled "Carried Interest," the Arbitrator expressly rejected Rappaport's request for carried interest.

The Arbitrator noted that "Rappaport seeks carried interest, claiming that he is owed \$25M on carried interest as of 2018." (Pa237.) The Arbitrator accepted Defendants' arguments that Rappaport "failed to prove the value of any carried interest in KABR I through IV [and] is not entitled to carried

interest." (<u>Ibid.</u>) In exercising his discretion, the Arbitrator stated, "I deny the requested \$25M in carried interest but I award Claimant the sum of \$13,455," adding that a \$4.9 million award was a "fair and just result." (Pa237; Pa241.)

III. The Final Award: Rappaport "has not established by a preponderance of the credible evidence that he has proven carried interest."

Rappaport requested that the Arbitrator reconsider the Initial Award. Rappaport argued that he was entitled to future carried interest payments as a member of KABR. (Pa1332-44.) The Arbitrator issued his second award ("Final Award") and affirmed his denial of any carried interest to Rappaport. He stated, in relevant part:

I denied Claimant's request for \$25M in carried interest but awarded \$13,455, the total value of his capital account in KABR I through IV.... I previously denied the Claimant's request of \$25M. That decision stands. I denied the claim in an exercise of discretion after a review of the entire record.... I find that Claimant has not established by a preponderance of the credible evidence that he has proven carried interest ... [or] the value of his current interest at the time of his termination.

[(Pa244-63 (emphasis added).)]

IV. Superior Court's Order Remanding the Award: "Chief Justice Zazzali could not have been clearer, that he was denying carried interest."

In December 2020, Rappaport demanded an accounting and commenced a second action against Defendants in the Superior Court, Chancery Division,

Bergen County ("2020 Complaint").³ (Pa298; Pa1679-1714.) Rappaport's 2020 Complaint raised ten separate counts for relief against Defendants, all of which were already fully litigated in the arbitration.

Defendants filed a motion in the 2019 Action to confirm the Award. (Pa185-90.) Rappaport filed a competing motion in the 2019 Action for an order confirming the Arbitration Award to the extent that it did not deprive him of his status as a member of KABR, or, alternatively vacating or modifying the Award. Defendants moved to dismiss the 2020 Complaint.

At a hearing in Superior Court, Rappaport argued that "the Chief Justice found that [the Operating Agreements] are enforceable and valid, and that [he is] entitled to all compensation as if he was a member forever." (1T31-25 to 32-2.)⁴ Defendants replied that the Arbitrator had twice rejected Rappaport's claim for carried interest as a member of KABR. (1T14-14 to 14-16.) The court remanded to the Arbitrator to resolve that dispute. (1T6-8 to 6-23.)

V. <u>The Arbitrator: The \$4.9 million Award compensates Rappaport for his</u> damages "as a manager and member of the KABR Entities."

On remand, the parties submitted briefs on the issue of whether the Award

³ Defendants fully paid the amounts due under the Award.

⁴ The Superior Court held hearings on the parties' various motions on March 26, 2021 and August 31, 2021. "1T" refers to the March 26, 2021 hearing transcript; and "2T" refers to the August 31, 2021 hearing transcript.

fully compensated Rappaport for his interests both as a manager and member of KABR. The Arbitrator held a hearing during which Rappaport's counsel admitted that "the only item" Rappaport sought through his actions and motion practice was "carried interest." (Pa2089-2113; Pa2288.)

In entering his "Remand Order," the Arbitrator explained that he had denied Rappaport's claim for carried interest multiple times and that he "intended that the \$4.9 million Award represent full, just and complete compensation to [Rappaport] for his damages against [Defendants] both as a manager and member of the KABR Entities." (Pa2286-98.)

VI. The Confirmation Order: "[T]he [A]rbitrator carefully reviewed and considered the record."

Following the Remand Order, at a hearing to decide whether to confirm the Arbitration Award, the trial court noted that the purpose of the Arbitration Agreement "was to resolve all the claims between the parties." (2T50-8 to 50-22.) He stated that the parties could not "have really presented much more of a record" and that "the [A]rbitrator carefully reviewed and considered the record." (2T55-21 to 56-2.) And he found that carried interest was repeatedly raised throughout the arbitration. (2T59-17 to 59-24.) The court confirmed the award, rejecting Rappaport's arguments that the Arbitrator had exceeded his authority or misapplied New Jersey law. (2T60-19 to 61-8.) Rappaport appealed.

VII. The Panel: "Rappaport's membership interest in the KABR entities was not

an issue presented to the arbitrator as a claim to be ruled upon."

The Appellate Division reversed the trial court's confirmation of the Arbitration Award. The Appellate Division rejected the Arbitrator's ruling that Rappaport submitted a \$25 million claim for carried interest. It held that "Rappaport's membership interest in the KABR entities was not an issue presented to the [A]rbitrator as a claim to be ruled upon." (26a.) The Appellate Division disregarded Rappaport's direct testimony that he was asserting a claim for \$25 million in carried interest, mistakenly finding that the testimony was given in response to sua sponte questioning by the Arbitrator. (27a; 39a.) The appellate court acknowledged that "the Arbitration Agreement specifically references dissociation" and that Rappaport asserted a claim for minority oppression, which triggered the Arbitrator's authority to dissociate him as a member and value his membership interest. Nevertheless, it incongruously found that "neither party had notice [that] Rappaport's fair value or fair market value interest after dissociation would be included in the arbitration award." (31a; 37a.) The panel affirmed the Arbitrator's award in all respects, except to the extent the Award included damages for Rappaport's membership interest in KABR. The panel imposed its own award of \$4.9 million in damages for Rappaport's interest solely as a manager, and reinstated Rappaport's claim for additional damages for the value of his membership interest.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- (1) Whether the Appellate Division erred by violating the dictates of <u>Tretina</u> by disregarding the Arbitrator's Award and making its own fact findings after the parties submitted their dispute to binding arbitration?
- (2) Where the Arbitration Award covered damages for both management and membership interests, did the Appellate Division err in letting the entire Award stand after vacating the portion covering membership interest?

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF AND GROUNDS FOR CERTIFICATION

(1) This Court held in <u>Tretina</u> that a court must confirm an arbitration award in the absence of egregious wrongdoing or one of the very specific mistakes delineated by the Legislature. 135 N.J. at 358. In <u>Tretina</u>, the Court adopted Chief Justice Wilentz's concurrence in <u>Perini</u> in which he expounded on the limited scope of judicial review in private-sector arbitration awards. <u>Id.</u> at 357-58. In that concurrence, he asserted that "[a]rbitration awards should be what they were always intended to be: final, not subject to judicial review absent fraud, corruption, or similar wrongdoing on the part of the arbitrators. . . . They can be corrected or modified only for very specifically defined mistakes as set forth in [the arbitration statute]." <u>Id.</u> at 357-58 (quoting <u>Perini</u>, 129 N.J. at 548 (Wilentz, C.J., concurring)). "[M]odification or correction of awards based on factual errors, is extremely limited." Perini, 129 N.J. at 542.

This Court has recognized that "[p]arties enter commercial contracts voluntarily" and "act without any compulsion to deal with each other." Tretina, 135 N.J. at 362. "Parties who choose arbitration should not be put through a litigation wringer. . . . The only questions are: were the arbitrators honest, and did they stay within the bounds of the arbitration agreement?" Perini, 129 N.J. at 519.

The Appellate Division did precisely what <u>Tretina</u> forbids in reviewing a private-sector arbitration -- it conducted a de novo review of the record, weighed witness testimony, and determined whether a claim was adequately presented to an arbitrator, affording no deference to the arbitrator's findings. Whether Rappaport had a membership interest (or a right to any carried interest) was indisputably within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. The parties presented evidence addressing the issue, and the Arbitrator ruled on that issue. The panel's opinion undermines the highly deferential review standard set forth in <u>Tretina</u>. Courts do not have a roving commission to upset an arbitrator's honest and reasoned decision that an issue was adequately raised and properly fell within the scope of the arbitration.

Second, the Appellate Division ignored not only the record, but also the heightened standard of review articulated in <u>Tretina</u> by impermissibly expanding the scope of judicial review and allowing the reviewing court to

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