## Supreme Court of New Jersey

Docket No. 088645

LAURENCE J. RAPPAPORT.

Individually and as a Member of Rapad Real Estate Management,

LLC, KABR Management, LLC, KABR Management II, LLC, KABR Management III, LLC and KABR

Management IV, LLC,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

- VS. -

KENNETH PASTERNAK, Individually and as a Member of Rapad Real Estate Management, LLC, KABR Management, LLC, KABR Management II, LLC,

(For Continuation of Caption See Inside Cover)

CIVIL ACTION

ON PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF NEW JERSEY,

APPELLATE DIVISION

DOCKET NOS. A-000491-21 and

A-000492-21

Sat Below:

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

#### REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION

Neither the actions of the Appellate Division nor the Defendants' arguments regarding the application of the case law present any novel issue

worthy of this Court's review. The Appellate Division applied straightforward precedent and applied it in the correct manner.

### I. The First Question Presented Does Not Warrant Review.

### A. The Appellate Division's Decision is Correct.

As the Appellate Division described in detail on pages 25 through 39 of its opinion, and as Rappaport addressed at length in his appellate briefs (i.e. on pages Pb7-Pb23, Pb70-Pb72, Prb1-Pbr28), there was no claim in any of the arbitration pleadings for divesture and dissociation, the Defendants' pre-hearing actions confirmed that divesture was not part of the arbitration, and Rappaport's efforts to raise due process violations by permitting divesture post-hearing does not negate the reality that the arbitrator <u>sua sponte</u> divested Rappaport of his membership interest and his right to future carried interest flowing therefrom, when such a claim was not ripe, not raised in the arbitration, and disavowed by the Defendants as part of the arbitration until after the close of evidence.

In <u>Tretina</u> and the RUAA, a court is required to modify an award when the arbitrator rules on a claim not submitted. The Defendants nevertheless repeat tired arguments that Rappaport's arbitration pleading did seek damages for termination as a member. This is patently false.

Nor did the Appellate Division misapply <u>Tretina</u> in its opinion modifying the damages portion of award to reflect the claims actually submitted. The

Appellate Division, in fact, left untouched any issue regarding the wrongful termination of Rappaport as an officer and director. Moreover, despite the lack of an express claim for dissociation, the Appellate Division permitted dissociation of Rappaport under the guise of the arbitrator's powers pursuant to the minority oppression statute, even though doing so would permit dissociating the prevailing party who had been wrongfully terminated in bad faith. The Appellate Division simply addressed the reality that Rappaport's right to the value of his membership interest did not become ripe until the award sua sponte dissociated him, and that he was not on notice of his obligation to prove its Since the arbitrator sua sponte forced a buy-out of his membership value. interest, including post-award future carried interest, due process, ripeness, the RUAA, and Tretina, all required modification for the limited purpose of addressing the damages for a remedy not pleaded.

# B. Contrary to the Defendants' Assertion, There Is No Conflict with Other Decisions nor Is It a Matter of Public Importance.

The Appellate Division's opinion is not precedential. It is unpublished. It affects only the parties to the case. Tellingly, the Defendants do not cite to a single decision of any court in conflict with the Appellate Division's application of the modification requirements under the RUAA. Instead, the Defendants rely on familiar boilerplate about the deference owed to arbitration awards, but this is not the typical private party arbitration. As this Court held in the very case

the Defendants cite, arbitration awards must be modified when they rule on claims not submitted to the arbitrator. Tretina, 135 N.J. at 358.

In an attempt to evade this reality, the Defendants' submission is a memorandum of misdirection to the Court. As detailed herein, the Defendants misrepresent the record—from the claims actually asserted, to the award actually rendered, to the undisputed arbitration evidence, to the arguments Rappaport actually presented to Appellate Division.

# C. The Interests of Justice Warranted the Appellate Division's Order.

The interests of justice weigh in favor of leaving the Appellate Division's decision undisturbed. The arbitrator, trial court, and Appellate Division all recognize that Rappaport was the prevailing party who had been wrongfully terminated in bad faith as an employee and manager of the KABR Entities. See, e.g., 31a. He was a founding member of the company; he is the "R" in "KABR". See 7a; Pa1402. Yet, without notice, he was divested of his membership interest and the cash flow generated therefrom. See 31a; 37a. One of the KABR Entities alone paid in excess of \$8,000,000 in carried interest to its members only two weeks after the award, and Defendants admittedly used their undeserved windfall of what should have been Rappaport's \$2,600,000 carried interest distribution to pay part of the compensatory damages due to Rappaport as a result of their wrongful actions. See 2T26-13 to 15. If the Appellate Division's

decision is disturbed, the Defendants will have paid the "damages" for their bad faith termination of Rappaport entirely with funds to which Rappaport is entitled as part of any improper divestiture of his interest.

#### D. This Case is a Poor Vehicle.

This case is a poor vehicle to resolve the Defendants' first question in any event. This is a private arbitration, predicated on specific contract provisions, an arbitration agreement, statement of claims, and identifiable rules under the AAA governing procedure, all of which result in a very specific set of circumstances that have no bearing on future arbitrations generally.

### II. The Second Question Presented Does Not Warrant Review.

The Defendants also ask this Court to decide whether the Appellate Division erred in not vacating the entire award and instead merely modifying the award to allow Rappaport to pursue his now ripe claims for valuation of his interest in the KABR Entities when the other claims touched on issues unrelated to his membership interest, i.e. bad faith termination as a manager. That the Appellate Division vacated a <u>sua sponte</u> remedy has no bearing upon the merits of the other claims that were pleaded, litigated, and arbitrated by the parties. Moreover, Rappaport's right to value his membership interest, including future carried interest since the closing of the hearing, is now ripe for adjudication.

The Defendants do not attempt to cite any case that conflicts with the Appellate Division's decision to modify the award to exclude the unripe membership interest. This matter has even less merit of importance as it is entirely driven by the rights and remedies afforded to Rappaport under the controlling operating agreements, as well as the scope of the pleadings. The merits of the wrongful termination claim are unaffected by the Appellate Division's modification of the award's <u>sua sponte</u> step in divesting Rappaport of his membership for \$13,000 when those claims were not raised, nor ripe.

# COMMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S DECISION

Contrary to the Defendants' contention, the Appellate Division did not make new factual findings in violation of the scope of appellate review articulated in <u>Tretina</u> and its prodigy. Instead, the Appellate Division engaged in a straightforward application of the <u>N.J.S.A.</u> 2A:23B-24 and <u>Tretina</u> to modify the award:

Although <u>Tretina[]</u> outlines a strong presumption in favor of effectuating an arbitration award, we are compelled to modify the awards given both parties' failure to raise the value of Rappaport's membership interest as an issue at arbitration. Because we find no basis to vacate the awards entered on the claims properly brought before the arbitrator for wrongful termination, we affirm those awards as representing Rappaport's lost income and lost future income resulting from his wrongful termination as a manager. By adhering to the specifically defined criteria in

modifying an arbitration award, we adhere to the standard set forth in <u>Tretina</u> and uphold the presumption favoring effectuating an arbitration award.

38a. The Appellate Division recognized that some of the trial court's <u>legal</u> conclusions in confirming and failing to modify the award were inconsistent with well-established law and a plain reading of the statute requiring modification. As self-announced, the Appellate Division followed the established standard of review and limitedly modified the award because Rappaport's membership interest was not a claim pleaded in the arbitration. 38a.

Both the trial court and Appellate Division agreed that there was no claim in any of the pleadings for divestiture or dissociation of Rappaport as a member of the KABR Entities. See 31a; Prb3-Prb4. Yet, as they did in the Appellate Division, see Db54, the Defendants similarly misrepresent Rappaport's statement of claims in this Court. See Pet. Br. 5. Defendants misrepresent that Rappaport's statement of claims sought "damages for his termination as both a manager and a member of KABR" including "reinstatement or, alternatively, compensation for his management and membership interests." Their assertion is simply false. The Appellate Division stated as much:

Following the consummation of the Arbitration Agreement, the parties submitted statements of claims to the arbitrator. Rappaport again sought declaratory relief, arguing his removal from the KABR entities was ineffective and seeking reinstatement as a manager and employee. Although he claimed minority member

oppression, he did not seek dissolution of the KABR entities, dissociation, a buy-out, or redemption of his investment interests. On the contrary, Rappaport claimed he was entitled to "seek a remedy other than dissolution" pursuant to N.J.S.A. 42:2C-48(a)(5) and In addition, Rappaport sought a variety of injunctive and economic remedies, claiming defendant Pasternak engaged in a systemic campaign to oust him after he refused to participate in a new KABR V fund. In its claims against Rappaport submitted to the arbitrator, defendants detailed extensive accusations of employee and manager wrongdoing by Rappaport.... Like Rappaport, defendants did not seek dissolution of the KABR entities, dissociation of Rappaport, a buyout of Rappaport's investment interest, or redemption of his interest. They simply sought a declaration he was terminated for cause, which they felt deprived him of any future compensation.

11a-12a. Rather, "[D]efendants specifically excluded any claim regarding [Rappaport's] equity ownership in their statement of claims and their pre-trial briefs." 26a. As the Appellate Division correctly identified: "neither party raised the issue of dissolution, dissociation, a buy-out, or redemption in their statement of claims, pre-trial briefs, or evidence presented. Although the Arbitration Agreement specifically mentions dissociation as within the scope of the arbitration, neither party sought it." 31a. In fact, none of the KABR Entities' operating agreements permit a buy-out. See 35a-36a; Pb42-Pb47. Moreover, nowhere in the ad damnum clause of Rappaport's claims for declaratory relief and minority oppression did Rappaport seek such a declaration or a buy-out for his membership interest. See Pa340-Pa341, Pa374-Pa378.

There can be no argument against the fact that the arbitrator acted sua sponte in dissociating Rappaport. There was no claim for dissociation, no one requested Rappaport be dissociated, and in each pre-hearing submission to the trial court and to the arbitrator, the Defendants expressly disavowed any dissociation claim, stating three times that Rappaport's "removal as an officer ... has nothing to do with his status as an equity owner." See Pa387, Pa1886; Pa1904 (emphasis original), Pra15, Pra33 (emphasis original). The Defendants emphasized that point at each step of the dispute. In their first written response to the Complaint in the trial court, in reliance on the same statement to the arbitrator in opposition to a preliminary injunction in arbitration (after the arbitration claim had been submitted), and again in the days before the hearing. See ibid. The post-hearing issues jointly created and submitted by the parties made no mention of Rappaport's membership interest, dissociation, divesture, or carried interest. See ibid. That the arbitrator then awarded \$13,000 in damages on those exact claims not pleaded warranted modification.

With the Defendants making clear that his removal as an officer "ha[d] nothing to do with his status as an equity owner," Pa1904 (emphasis original); Pra33 (emphasis original), Rappaport had no notice that he had to prove the value of his membership interest. He simply had no notice that his membership interest was at risk before the arbitrator <u>sua sponte</u> inserted the issue into the

award. The first time Rappaport became aware of the fact that he had to prove the value of his membership interest (and not his income as a manager) was in the arbitration award. 31a-32a; 34a-35a.

The statute and case law are clear and unambiguous: "the court shall modify or correct the award if: ... (2) the arbitrator made an award on a claim not submitted to the arbitrator and the award may be corrected without affecting the merits of the decision upon the claims submitted." RUAA at § 2A:23B-24(a)(2); Block v. Plosia, 390 N.J. Super. 543 (App. Div. 2007); accord Tretina, 135 N.J. at 358. Here, dissociation, divesture, and fair value or fair market value of Rappaport's membership interest were expressly disavowed by the Defendants as part of the arbitration. Rappaport similarly disavowed such a claim existed. The arbitrator sua sponte divested Rappaport of his membership interest for the value of his capital account. The remaining claims for lost wages as a result of wrongful termination and the merits of the wrongful termination claims are unaffected by the Appellate Division's correction of award in so far as it backs out a claim which was not submitted to the arbitrator and was disavowed by the parties. Other courts have performed a similar straight forward modification of an award under parallel circumstances. See, e.g., Block, 390 N.J. Super. at 543, 552-57 (modifying arbitration award when the arbitrator awarded treble damages pursuant to the New Jersey Consumer Fraud

Act despite neither party raising a CFA claim in any pleading submitted to the arbitrator because the defendant "was entitled to reasonable notice he was facing the statutory punch of the CFA before he stepped into the arbitration ring").

While the Defendants make much of Rappaport's counsel addressing carried interest in his closing after the arbitration hearing had concluded, see Pet. Br. at 7, Rappaport's counsel rightfully asserted that Rappaport was not on notice that carried interest and divesture were part of the arbitration:

This is another example of [Defendants] attempting to violate Mr. Rappaport's due process rights, oppress and punish him. Before pre-arbitration [sic], the carried interest was not an issue. It was not raised for good reason. KABR continued to pay Mr. Rappaport's carried interest, even after they issued consents terminating him as CEO from the KABR entities. [Defendants] testified during their depositions that Mr. Rappaport continued to be paid carried interest in November 2019, well after he was terminated from the company, and after the claim[] documents were filed.

Pallo2. Regardless, even then, Rappaport was neither asserting a claim to be divested of his membership interest nor pleading for a net payout of future carried interest. That the arbitrator then did so without notice to Rappaport prohibited due process to Rappaport by denying him the opportunity to prove its value. Doing so required modification as detailed by the Appellate Division.

This is especially true as the Appellate Division rightly held that the award is limited to the carried interest Rappaport could have been owed "at the time of

termination" and "the value of his membership interest was not ripe until the arbitrator refused to reinstate Rappaport," only then did his claim for future carried interest accrue. See 34a.

Moreover, the Defendants similarly miss the mark with respect to any colloquy regarding Rappaport's single statement in 13 days of testimony related to the value of carried interest. Upon <u>sua sponte</u> questioning from the arbitrator regarding the vesting provisions of the operating agreements, relevant to Rappaport's claim that he was vested in the unpaid management fees, Rappaport acknowledged that he was vested in the profits, losses, and distributions of the KABR entities. <u>See PA1426- Pa1436</u>. Rappaport then confirmed that the parties' discussion of damages during opening that day, did not account for carried interest because it was not part of the parties' purported damages:

Q: Do you remember Mr. Schub going through some numbers about damages that you assert in this case? Do you recall him speaking today about that?

A: Yes.

Q: Do any of those numbers address your carried interest?

A. No they do not address carried interest.

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